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Aim

This module looks at the way clauses are constructed in English.  It also investigates how to word order can be manipulated, the difference between statements, questions and commands, and the use of active and passive constructions.


Introduction

Native English speakers construct clauses instinctively, putting each word in the correct order to make sense.  They would not say or write The queen a jam sandwich was eating (except, possibly, in a song).  To teach well, we need to be aware of the ways language is put together.  


Three common clause structures

1. Subject Verb

At the root of a clause is a noun phrase (a subject) and a verb.  

The simplest type of statement (a simple sentence) consists of a subject and a verb.

         S                  V
  The queen   was eating.

   Teachers        teach.

       I                  sleep.

These are known as SV (subject, verb) sentences.  The subject might be a noun phrase, a single noun, or a pronoun standing in for a noun.

2. Subject Verb Object

As well as a subject and a verb, there might be other elements in the clause.  One common element is called an object.  Clauses like this are known as SVO clauses.

         S                  V

O
  The queen   was eating   a jam sandwich.      

  Teachers        teach           children.
      
 

But not all verbs take an object.  

  S                  V

O
   I               sleep.

In an SVO clause, the subject, verb and object generally come in that order.  If we organised them differently, they would mean something completely different, and often impossible.  

(Children might teach teachers, but the jam sandwich is unlikely to eat the queen.)

Word order is important in grammar.  We take it for granted, in all sorts of ways, that certain words come before or after others in order to make sense. 

3. Subject, Verb, Complement

Another common clause structure is the SVC ( subject, verb, complement.  This structure happens with the verb be and other verbs indicating state rather than action (e.g. feel and become).

In the SVO (subject verb object) construction, the jam sandwich was quite different and separate from the queen. But in the SVC, the queen and the friendly person are one and the same. 

          S                  V

O


 

  The queen   was eating   a jam sandwich.




          S                V

    C



  The queen        was            a friendly person. 


A complement is an element that refers back to a noun or a noun phase within the clause.  It might be another noun phrase or it might be an adjective.

        S                   V                         C
           

  Teachers           are                  wonderful.

So here are three of the ways clauses can be made:

the simple SV …

           S
       V

  The big dog    was barking.

the SVO …

          S
                  V

   O
  The queen    was eating    a jam sandwich.

and the SVC.

        S
         V
             C

  Teachers    are      wonderful.


Adverbials

We have investigated three common clause structures – SV, SVO, SVC.  In many clauses there are also adverbial chunks, usually answering the questions how?, where?, when?.  These might be single adverbs...

	       A                 S              V  

Recently, the big dog was barking.




or adverbial phrases…

	       A                S                V

Last week, the big dog was barking.




including those common phrases that begin with prepositions.

	              A                   S                V

On Sunday night, the big dog was barking.




Unlike other elements of a clause, which tend to be bound by word order, the adverbial has mobility.

           S
    V

A

   The big dog   was barking  in the garden.


S
  V
            O
         A
   The queen  was eating  a jam sandwich very daintily.

         S
          V           C            A


   Teachers    are   wonderful, usually.











      

A
     S
         V

   
In the garden, the big dog was barking.


         A
                S
       V
 
 O
Very daintily, the queen was eating a jam sandwich.

    
    A
     S
    V        C
   
Usually, teachers are wonderful.

Changing the position of the adverbial not only varies the sentence construction but it also allows us to change the emphasis of the sentence.

	                                                The postman was sorting letters.

         At midnight, the postman was sorting letters.

                                                    The postman was sorting letters at midnight.

         The postman, at the depot, was sorting letters. 

                                                   The postman was sorting letters at the depot.

          Very wearily, the postman was sorting letters.

                                                   The postman was, very wearily, sorting letters.




You could also use all the adverbials in one sentence.

	      At midnight, the postman was very wearily sorting letters at the depot.





Questions and commands

	The big dog was barking.

The queen was eating a jam sandwich.

Teachers are wonderful.




The SV, SVO and SVC clause structures that we have investigated so far are all statements.  Changing a statement into a question affects the word order.

	Was the big dog barking?

Was the queen eating a jam sandwich?

Are teachers wonderful?




In a question the verb, or part of it, moves in front of the subject. This often means splitting up the verb chain.

Sometimes you have to create a verb chain in order to split it.

	The big dog barked.

Did the big dog bark?




Another sort of sentence is the command.  Here, the verb is very important.

	Sit down!

Mix the flour and milk.

Cut along the dotted lines.




The subject of any command is the second person (you).  This is usually taken for granted and we say that the subject is ‘understood’.

	(You) sit down!

(You) mix the flour and milk.

(You) cut along the dotted lines.




Active and passive

A clause (or sentence) can be active or passive.

This is an active sentence.  

          S
              V
       O
  The queen was eating a jam sandwich.              

In an active sentence the subject is ‘actively’ doing something.  But we could express the same event from another point of view - the jam sandwich’s point of view.

This is a passive sentence.

                S
                V
     
  The jam sandwich was being eaten by the queen.      
In a passive sentence the subject is ‘passively’ having something done to it. The subject, the jam sandwich, is passively lying back and being eaten!

	ACTIVE

The Romans invaded Britain.

PASSIVE

Britain was invaded by the Romans.




Active constructions come very naturally.  When explaining what happened, the most straightforward method is to explain who did what: subject, verb, object.  

	ACTIVE

The Romans invaded Britain.

The queen was eating a jam sandwich.




However, there are occasions when the passive is more convenient.  For instance, it allows us to see the event from a different perspective.

	PASSIVE

Britain was invaded by the Romans.

The jam sandwich was being eating by the queen.




It also allows us to create an element of mystery. In a passive construction we can remove the ‘agent’ of the action.

      S
        V


  Britain was invaded.

               S                        V
  The jam sandwich was being eaten.            

We do not have to ask ‘whodunnit?’.  There are all sorts of reasons why you may not want to ask ‘whodunnit?’. You may not know.

  The house was burgled on Saturday.

  A box of chocolates was left on the doorstep.

Or you may not wish to mention ‘whodunnit’.  It may also be more polite or less confrontational.

  I was knocked over in the playground.

  I wasn’t given a pencil.

If you do not mention the agent, you do not hurt anyone’s feelings.

Impersonal passive

One important function of the passive is in the construction of formal, impersonal texts such as science writing.

  Personal (Active)

  We put the seeds in direct sunlight 

  and I watered them regularly.  

  Every morning 

  we measured the stems.

  Impersonal (Passive)

  The seeds were placed in direct sunlight 

  and watered regularly.  The stems were 

  measured each morning.  

It is conventional for science reports to be impersonal; the point is to record what happened, not who made it happen. 
Summary

· A clause is a group of words that expresses an event.  It usually contains a subject and a verb.

	          S              V

 The queen was eating.




· There are many common clause structures.
	       S        V                           S               V                 O                           S         V        C

The dog barked.            The queen was eating a jam sandwich.      Teachers are wonderful.




· The elements of a clause tend to be bound by word order.  Generally the subject of a sentence precedes the verb.  However, adverbial phrases have mobility and they can be positioned in different places.
	        S               V                   O                     A

The queen was eating a jam sandwich very daintily.

          A                  S               V                 O

Very daintily, the queen was eating a jam sandwich.




· Changing a statement into a question also affects word order.

	 The big dog was barking.

 Was the big dog barking?

 The queen was eating a jam sandwich.

 Was the queen eating a jam sandwich?

 Teachers are wonderful.

 Are teachers wonderful?




· Another sort of sentence is a command.  In a command the verb is important and therefore at the beginning of the clause.  The subject (you) is understood.

	 Sit down!

 Mix the flour and milk.

 Cut along the dotted lines.




· In an active sentence the subject is ‘actively’ doing something.

	 ACTIVE

 The Romans invaded Britain.




· In a passive sentence, the subject is ‘passively’ having something done to it.  In a passive sentence, we do not need to ask ‘whodunnit?’.  The passive is therefore a common feature of impersonal writing.

	 PASSIVE

 Britain was invaded by the Romans.

 Britain was invaded.
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